S182355

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COPY

THE PEOPLE,

Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

Respondent,

CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,

Petitioner,

B219011

(Los Angeles County
Super. Ct. No. ZM014203)

Real Party in Interest.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY - 3 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
Deputy

MICHAEL P. JUDGE, PUBLIC DEFENDER OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

Albert J. Menaster,
Karen King,
Jack T. Weedin,
(State Bar No. 73086)
Deputy Public Defenders

Appellate Branch 320 West Temple Street, Room 590 Los Angeles, CA 90012 Telephone: (213) 974-3067 Fax No. (213) 626-3519

Attorneys for Real Party in Interest

TOPICAL

Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601	15.16

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,) S ₁ -
Petitioner,)
) B219011
v.) .
) (Los Angeles County
SUPERIOR COURT OF) Super. Ct. No. ZM014203)
LOS ANGELES COUNTY,)
)
Respondent,)
)
CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,) -
)
Real Party in Interest.)
)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE AND ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

Real party in interest, Christopher Sharkey, hereinafter "real party," by and through his attorney Michael P. Judge, Public Defender of Los Angeles County, hereby respectfully petition this court for review following the published opinion of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three. A copy of the Court of Appeal's opinion, filed on March 25, 2010, is attached hereto as an Appendix.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 23, 2008, Steve Cooley, the District Attorney of Los Angeles County, hereinafter "petitioner," filed a petition alleging that real

party came within the purview of Welfare and Institutions Code^{1/} sections 6600 et seq., The Sexually Violent Predator Act, hereinafter the "SVPA," because he was allegedly convicted of three sexually violent offenses. (Slip opn. at pp. 3, 6.)

On February 19, 2008, while in state prison and approximately nine months prior to his parole date, real party was screened by a California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, hereinafter "CDCR," correctional counselor who determined that real party "meets the criteria as a potential SVP pursuant to' section 6600 et seq." (Slip Opn. at pp. 2-3.) The correctional counselor's determination was documented in a Sexually Violent Predator Screening form, hereinafter "CDC 7377," after "a thorough review of all cental file documentation." (Petition for Writ of Mandate, hereinafter "Petition," at p. 2.)

On March 12, 2008, CDCR referred real party's case to the Board of Parole Hearings, hereinafter "BPH," for further evaluation because real party meet the requirements for referral to the California Department of Mental Health, hereinafter "CDMH." (Slip Opn. at pp. 3-4.) "The referral packet included CDCR form 7377 with supporting documentation pertaining to the 1990 conviction, namely, a legal status summary, a staff recommendation

^{1/} All statutory reference are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless otherwise stated.

summary which contained information obtained on Sharkey by the correctional counselor, the probation officer's report, the abstract of judgment, chronological history of records by staff, the complaint and information in the criminal case, and a criminal history on Sharkey." (Slip Opn. at p. 4.) The CDC 7377 also documented the fact that real party's parole release date was November 24, 2008. (Pet., Exh. 5, CDC 7377, at p. 84; Pet., Corrected Reporter's Transcript of June 13, 2009, hereinafter "CRT," at p. 9.) The CDCR's referral process is complete when it determines the individual has a potential qualifying conviction and sends the CDC 7377 and supporting documentation to the BPH. (CRT, at pp. 14-15.) Sara Lopez, supervising Parole Agent III, assigned to the Sexually Violent Predator for Mental Health Disorders Offenders Unit at the BPH, testified that the BPH can make a referral to the CDMH with just the abstract of judgment for the alleged qualifying offense (CRT, at p. 18) and the BPH could have made the referral immediately to the CDMH. (Id., at pp. 18-19).

On March 17, 2008, real party's case was assigned to retired parole agent Richard Perry whose role was to confirm the qualifying conviction set forth in the CDC 7377. (Slip Opn. at p. 4; CRT, at p. 18.) Parole agent Perry was laid off in July, 2008. (<u>Ibid.</u>) Supervising parole agent Sara Lopez, testified that parole agent Perry submitted no reports on real party's case—i.e., produced no work product—and that on August 13, 2008, after three attempts

to rehire parole agent Perry she reassigned real party's case to parole agent Andrea Zahner. (CRT, at pp. 20, 24-25.) Parole agent Zahner "did not review the two 1990 convictions that had previously been identified. Rather, she sought information on the 1979 rape conviction. Although a single qualifying conviction sufficed under the SVPA, it was the Board's policy to provide as much information as possible to the CDMH for its review." (Slip Opn. at p. 4.)

On September 11, 2008, the BPH referred real party's case to the CDMH. (Slip Opn. at p. 4.) On September 19, 2008, Garret Essres, Ph.D., a licensed psychologist, performed a Level II screening to determine "whether or not there is any chance of a diagnosis in the presented case. If there is no chance of diagnosis or the risk is too low the case is not sent on for further evaluation." (Id., at p.5.) Dr. Essres referred real party for further evaluation "because of the 'high actuarial risk, possible applicable diagnosis, predatory, untested in the community and high chronicity." (Ibid.)

On October 3, 2008, Dr. Karlsson and October 14, 2008, Dr. Koetting interviewed real party. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.) On October 29, 2008, Dr. Karlsson submitted his final report in which he opined that real party met the criteria for prosecution under the SVPA. (<u>Ibid.</u>) On November 17, 2008, Dr. Koetting submitted his Clinical Evaluation Summary in which he opined that real party

met the criteria for prosecution under the SVPA. (<u>Ibid</u>.; Pet., Exh. 4, at pp. 66, 68.)

"On November 18, 2008, with only six days before Sharkey's scheduled release date" CDMH case worker Elizabeth Mard requested a 45-day extension to allow Dr. Koetting to completed his final report. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.) Ms. Mard had no recollection of whether she contacted Dr. Koetting or whether he contacted her. (Pet., Exh. 7, at p. 108.) Ms. Mard has no fax or record of the communication. (Ibid.) Furthermore, Ms. Mard has no e-mail, fax, or record of her request for the 45-day extension to the BPH on November 19, 2008, or that she forwarded the Level II screening to the BPH. (Ibid.)

On November 20, 2008, Deputy Commissioner Marita Williams, granted the 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3 "'to facilitate full SVP evaluations to be concluded by the" CDMH effective from November 24, 2008, to January 8, 2009. (Slip Opn. at p. 5; Pet., Exh. 4, p. 60; Pet., Exh. 5, at p. 83.) Ms. Mard's file note reflected that Dr. Koetting needed more time to complete his report as the case was complex but she cannot recall if she actually offered those facts to Deputy Commissioner Williams as the basis for the extension. (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 6.) Deputy Commissioner Williams stated in her declaration that it is her custom and practice to review a CDMH Level II screening document to insure the inmate meets the initial screening criteria

for SVP screening but she was unable to produce real party's Level II screening. (Pet., Exh. 5, at p. 83.)

On December 2, 2008, Dr. Koetting completed his final report. (Slip Opn. at p. 5.) On December 10, 2008, the CDMH "recommended to the Los Angeles County District Attorney that it proceed with a civil commitment petition because Sharkey met the statutory criteria for commitment under the SVPA." (Ibid.)

On January 13, 2009, real party "filed a motion to dismiss the SVP petition on the ground that he had been in unlawful custody since November 24, 2008" contending "that there was no justification for the Board's imposition, on November 20, 2008, of a 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3." (Slip Opn. at p. 6.) "The proffered justification for the 45-day extension was "to facilitate full SVP evaluations to be concluded by the CDMH, but no explanation was given for the failure to complete the evaluations by November 24, 2008." (Ibid.) Real party contended that the delay was attributable to negligence on the part of the BPH, CDCR, and CDMH in failing to process real party's case so that full SVP evaluations would be completed before real party's November 24, 2008, parole date. (Pet., Exh. 3, at pp. 15-20.)

On January 14, 2009, petitioner "filed a response to the dismissal motion, arguing that the CDCR, the CDMH and the Board all acted with reasonable dispatch." (Slip Opn. at p. 6.)

"On June 15, 2009, the trial court conducting an evidentiary hearing on the dismissal motion and took the matter under submission. On July 24, 2009, the trial court granted Sharkey's motion to dismiss the People's petition to commit him as an SVP on the ground there was no good cause to justify the 45-day hold to facilitate full SVP evaluations by the CDMH" (Slip Opn. at p.8.) The trial court found California Code of Regulations Section 2600.1, subdivision (d), to be a "tautology—a statement true by its own definition and therefore fundamentally uninformative. The extension ruling simply states the purpose of the extension; it does not state the justification for why the evaluation could not have been timely completed." (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 6.) The lower court elaborated on its ruling as follows:

"'Under the definition of good cause in section [2600.1] of the regulations, there is good cause. There was 'some evidence' that Mr. Sharkey met both parts of the criteria listed in section [2600]-a qualifying offense and a [likelihood] of engaging in sexually violent predatory behavior, the latter satisfied by Dr. Karlsson's October 10, 2008 Clinical Evaluation Summary and his October 29, 2008 written report.

"However, the court finds that the good cause definition set out in section [2600.1] of the CCR is clearly erroneous. It is not a definition of good cause-a reason why more time is needed. It simply declares that if the state of the underlying evidence is satisfactory under the 'some evidence' standard, the deadline is not enforced.' Merely 'because 'some evidence' exists that an inmate meets the criteria as a SVP cannot establish good cause to meet the filing deadline." (Slip Opn. at p. 8.)

On September 22, 2009, petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three, case number B219011.

On March 25, 2010, in a published decision the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's ruling holding that California Code of Regulations Section 2600.1, subdivision (d)'s, definition of "good cause is "proper" and its "standard for good cause was met in this case—there was some evidence before the Board that Sharkey had committed a qualifying offense and some evidence that he is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior." (Slip Opn. at pp. 2-3.) Alternatively, the Court of Appeal ruled that section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s, provision that "[a] petition shall not be dismissed on the basis of a later judicial or administrative determination that the individual's custody was unlawful, if the unlawful custody was the result of a good faith mistake of fact or law" would have permitted the petitioner and the Board to rely on the regulation so as to preclude a dismissal of the petition. (Id., at pp. 16-17.)

These facts raise the following important issues on review.

ISSUES ON REVIEW

- 1. What is the constitutes "good cause" for the imposition of a 45-day hold under section 6601.3?
- 2. Is California Code of Regulations Section 2600.1's, hereinafter "Regulation 2600.1," implementation of section 6601.3's "good cause" requirement proper?
- 3. Does section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s, "good faith mistake of law or fact" exception preclude the dismissal of a SVPA petition which was not timely filed either: a) due to an erroneous interpretation of Regulations 2600.1's requirements, b) due to an erroneous reliance on Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d)'s, definition of "good cause," or c) because the record is devoid of evidence warranting a finding of a "good faith mistake of law or fact"?

IMPORTANCE OF ISSUES ON REVIEW

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important questions of law. (Ca. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500, subd. (b)(1).)

The decision in the instant case is contrary to the decision reached in <u>In</u> re <u>Lucas</u> (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 797, 105 Cal.Rptr.3d 871 (Pet. Rev. Filed Apr. 13, 2010, Case No. S181788). In direct contrast to the holding in the instant case, the Court of Appeal, Third District, held in <u>Lucas</u> that "the definition of good cause contained in subdivision (d) of section 2600.1 of title

15 of the California Code of Regulations (regulation 2600.1(d)) is inconsistent with the legislative intent behind the statutory good cause requirement. Thus, to the extent the board relied on the regulation in extending Lucas's incarceration, Lucas's custody was unlawful." (Id., at 105 Cal.Rptr.3d 873-874.) Additionally, the Lucas court held that because there "was no judicial or administrative decision that had addressed the validity of regulation 2600.1(d), and the regulation was, to all appearances, valid. Thus, the board could have relied in good faith on that regulation in placing the hold on Lucas." (Id., at 105, Cal.Rptr.3d 883.)

The definition of "good cause" required to impose a 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3 also presents important questions of law. Section 6601.3 does not define it usage of the term "good cause." (Slip Opn. at p. 12.) "What is 'good cause,' may be difficult to define with precision, since it must, in a great measure, be determined by reference to the particular circumstances appearing in each case." (In re Lucas, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th 797, 105 Cal.Rptr.3d 871, 878.) The court of appeal's definition of "good cause" in the above-entitled case—i.e., that there is some evidence before the Board that an inmate has committed a qualifying offense and some evidence that he is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior— is legally incorrect based on two reasons. First, the Sharkey court erroneously construed Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d), in a vacuum because it failed to take

account of the language and requirements of the regulation on a whole. Specifically, Regulation 2600.1, subdivisions (a) and (b), requires the establishment of a 3-day hold predicated on "exceptional circumstances" prior to the establishment of a 45-day hold. Although the Lucas court reached the correct conclusion that Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d), as applied was invalid, it also failed to correctly analyze the overall language of the regulation. (See Argument II, post.) Second, the Sharkey court failed to correctly interpret section 6601.3 and its implementation by Regulation 2600.1. The legislative intent behind section 6601.3 was not to grant 45-day holds in cases where an inmate meet several of the SVPA criteria, rather it was enacted to cover situations where "exceptional circumstances might make it impossible to complete a sexually violent predator evaluation before the inmate's scheduled release date, despite the best efforts of corrections, mental health, and the board to complete the evaluation within that time." (In re <u>Lucas</u>, supra, 182 Cal.App.4th 797, 105 Cal.Rptr.3d 871, 881; See Argument III, post.)

Additional important questions of law presented by the above-entitled case are: 1) whether a misconstruction and/or misapplication of Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d), by the Board, BPH, CDCR, and/or CDMH can be excused pursuant to section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s, good faith mistake of act or law exception, and 2) whether negligence by the Board, BPH, CDCR,

and/or CDMH can be excused pursuant to section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s, good faith mistake of act or law exception. (See Arguments IV and V, <u>post</u>.)

Therefore, to secure uniformity of decisions and because the Court of Appeal decision in the above-entitled case misapplied and erroneously upheld Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d)'s, interpretation of section 6601.3's "good cause" requirement and misapplied section 6601, subdivision (a)(2)'s good faith mistake of law or fact exception, this court should grant review.

THE STATUTORY SCHEME

The SVPA, effective January 1, 1996, provides for an indefinite commitments in a secure facility located on the grounds of an institution under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections upon a finding that a person is a "'sexually violent predator' [which] means a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense against one or more victims and who has a diagnosed mental disorder that makes the person a danger to the health and safety of others in that it is likely that he or she will engage in sexually violent criminal behavior." (§§ 6600, subd. (a); 6604.)

Section 6601 sets forth the pre-petition evaluation process and procedures in SVPA cases. The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation screens inmates in its custody who are "serving a determinate prison sentence or whose parole has been revoked" at least six months before their scheduled date of release from prison to determine whether they "may be a sexually

violent predator." (§ 6601, subd. (a).) "If as a result of this screening it is determined the person is likely to be a sexually violent predator," that person is referred to the Department of Mental Health for a full evaluation. (§ 6601, subd. (b).) The evaluation process is to commence at least six months prior to the scheduled parole date in order to allow the completion of the evaluation prior to that date, however, "upon a showing of good cause, the Board of Prison Terms may order that a person referred to the State Department or Mental Health pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 6601 remain in custody for no more than 45 days beyond the person's scheduled release date for full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions (C) to (I), inclusive, of Section 6601." The full evaluation is to be performed by two practicing (§ 6601.3.) psychiatrists or psychologists. (§ 6601, subd. (d).) If both evaluators concur that the person has a diagnosed mental disorder so that he or she is likely to engage in acts of sexual violence without appropriate treatment and custody, the Director of the Department of Mental Health shall forward a request for a commitment petition to the county where the person was convicted of the crime for which he is currently imprisoned. (§ 6601, subds. (d), (h)-(I).) If the county's designated legal counsel agrees with the request, he or she shall file a petition for commitment in superior court. (§ 6601, subd. (I).)

ARGUMENT

I

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The instant case presents mixed question of law and fact—i.e., the facts underlying the finding of good cause and whether the lower court applied the correct legal standard in its determination of "good cause" based upon those facts. Mixed questions of law and fact are "subject to a substantial evidence standard of review as to factual findings and de novo review as to 'the court's applying the facts to the incorrect legal standards." (In re Adoption of Allison C. (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1004, 1010, Fn.6; e.g., People v. Sardinas (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 488,493-494, "We defer to the trial court's factual findings, express or implied, where supported by substantial evidence. In determining whether, on the facts so found, the search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, we exercise our independent judgment.")

The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on June 15, 2009, wherein it received into evidence numerous exhibits, including three declarations and testimony from supervising parole agent Sara Lopez via video

conference.^{2/} (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 1.) Based on the foregoing exhibits, declarations, and testimony the trial court issued detailed finding of facts surrounding the CDCR, BPH, and CDMH's evaluation in real party's case. (Pet., Exh. 1, at pp. 3-7.) These finding of facts formed the basis of the trial court's ruling that "good cause" justifying the 45-day hold pursuant to section 6601.3 was not present.

II

REGULATION 2600.1 REQUIRES "EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES" AND "GOOD CAUSE" BEFORE A 3-DAY, AND IN TURN A 45-DAY, HOLD MAY BE IMPOSED

Both the <u>Sharkey</u> and <u>Lucas</u> courts misconstrued the requirements of Regulation 2600.1 because their analysis was confined to subdivision (d) without consideration of the regulation as a whole. Regulation 2600.1 in relevant part provides:

(a) Upon notification from the Division of Adult Institutions, Department of Mental Health, or Board of Parole Hearings (board) staff that either an inmate or parolee in revoked status may or does require a full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions (c) through (I) inclusive of Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601 to determine whether that person may be subject to commitment as a sexually violent predator, the board may order imposition of a temporary hold on the person for up to three (3) working days beyond their scheduled release date pending a good cause determination by the board pursuant to section 6601.3 of

² Evidence included real party's exhibits A, B, G, I, K, P, L, M, N, O, P, and J and the exhibits attached to Petitioner's responsive pleadings filed May 13, 2009, and June 13, 2009. (Pet., Exh. 1, at p. 1; Opp. To Pet. For Writ of Mandate and Prohibition and Req. For Stay.)

the Welfare and Institutions Code where exceptional circumstances preclude an earlier evaluation by the person pursuant to section 6601 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

- (b) Staff shall document that either inmates or parolees in revoked status subject to the temporary hold in subdivision (a) of this section either have been screened or are in the process of being screened as a person likely to be a sexually violent predator pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601(b). The good cause determination by the board pursuant to subdivisions (c) and (d) of this section must occur within the time period of the temporary hold.
- (c) Board determinations pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601.3 shall be conducted by one commissioner or one deputy commissioner.
- (d) For purposes of this section, good cause to place a 45-day hold pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601.3 exists when either the inmate or parolee in revoked status is found to meet all the following criteria:
- (1) Some evidence that the person committed a sexually violent offense by force, violence, duress, menace, or fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the victim or another person, or threatening to retaliate in the future against the victim or any other person on, before, or after January 1, 1996, which resulted in a conviction or a finding of not guilty by reason of insanity of one or more felony violations of the following Penal Code Sections: 261, 262, 264.1, 269, 286, 288, 288(a), 288.5, 289 or any felony violation of sections 207, 209 or 220, committed with the intent to commit a violation of sections 261, 262,

264.1, 286, 288, 288a, or 289.^{3/} The preceding felony violations must be against one or more victims.^{4/}

. . . .

(2) Some evidence that the person is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior.^{5/} (Emphasis and Footnotes Added.)

Both the Court of Appeal in the above-entitled case and in <u>Lucas</u> analyzed Regulation 2600.1, subdivision (d), in isolation—i.e., without reference to subdivisions (a) and (b). Regulation 2600.1 must be read as a whole. (<u>City of Huntington Beach v. Board of Administration</u> (1992) 4 Cal.4th 462, 468, "legislation must be construed as a whole while avoiding an interpretation which renders any of its language surplusage."; <u>Arnett v. Dal Cielo</u> (1996) 14 Cal.4th 4, 22, "[c]ourts should give meaning to every word of

^{3/}Cf. Section 6600, subdivision (b), defines a "sexually violent offense" as an act committed "by force, violence, duress, menace, fear of immediate and unlawful bodily injury on the victim or another person, or threatening to retaliate in the future against the victim or any other person, and that are committed on, before, or after the effective date of this article and result in a conviction or a finding of not guilty by reason of insanity, as defined in subdivision (a): a felony violation of Section 261, 262, 264.1, 269, 286, 288, 288a, 288.5, or 289 of the Penal Code, or any felony violation of Section 207, 209, or 220 of the Penal Code, committed with the intent to commit a violation of Section 261, 262, 264.1, 286, 288, 288a, or 289 of the Penal Code."

^{4/} Cf. Section 6600, subdivision (a), in relevant part requires "a sexually violent offense against one or more victims."

^{5/} Cf. Section 6600, subdivision (a)(3), in relevant part requires "[t]he details underlying the commission of an offense that led to a prior conviction, including a predatory relationship with the victim, may be shown by documentary evidence. . . ."

a statute if possible, and should avoid a construction making any word surplusage.)

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