# **Supreme Court Copy**



## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,

Petitioner,

No. S182355

v.

2d Dist. No. B219011

(LASC No. ZM014203)

SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

Respondent,

CHRISTOPHER SHARKEY,

Real Party in Interest.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUPREME COURT

MAY 20 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

STEVE COOLEY, District Attorney Of Los Angeles County

IRENE WAKABAYASHI

Head Deputy

State Bar No. 132848

SHIRLEY S. N. SUN

Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 112803

Appellate Division

320 West Temple St., Suite 540

Los Angeles, CA 90012-3213

Telephone: (213) 893-0632

Attorneys for Petitioner

# TOPICAL

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

#### ARGUMENT

The term "good cause" in section 6601.3 should be construed so as to effectuate the legislative intent of the SVPA to protect the public by optimizing the reach of the statute without infringing the liberty interest of incarcerated persons affected by the statute. Because *Sharkey* was correctly decided, and its interpretation of section 6601.3 reflects the objective of that statute and effectuates the stated purpose of the SVPA, *Sharkey* should be left intact by denying review.

INTERPRETING "GOOD CAUSE" IN SECTION 6601.3 AS IT IS DEFINED BY SECTION 2600.1 OF THE CODE OF REGULATIONS COMPORTS WITH THE TEXT AND OBJECTIVE OF SECTION 6601.3 AND EFFECTUATES THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF THE SVPA

As the *Lucas* court acknowledged, "… "good cause" … must, in a great measure, be determined by reference to the particular circumstances appearing in each case." (*Lucas* Opinion, pp. 12-13, citing *Ex Parte Bull* (1871) 42 Cal. 196, 199.) In a statutory context, ""good cause" … must be construed in the light reflected by its text and objectives" and "must be so interpreted that the fundamental purpose of the legislation shall not be destroyed." (*Lucas* Opinion, p. 13, citing *Cal. Portland Cement Co. v. Cal. Unemp. Ins. Appeals Board* (1960) 178 Cal.App.2d 263, 272, 273.) Thus, "good cause" for imposition of a 45-day hold under section 6601.3 must be construed to serve the objectives of the SVPA and section 6601.3 in particular.

It is undisputed that the Legislature's intent in enacting the SVPA is "to identify persons who have certain diagnosed mental disorders that make them likely to engage in acts of sexual violence and to confine them for treatment of their disorders as long as the disorders persist." (Sharkey Opinion, p. 15, citing People v. Dean (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 186, 191; cf. Lucas Opinion, pp. 4-5, 14-15, citing respectively Lee v. Superior

Court (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 1108, 1122, and *People v. Allen* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 843, 857; also see Stats. 1995, ch. 763, § 1, pp. 5921-5922.) While the SVPA contemplates screening and evaluating inmates prior to their scheduled release date to determine whether the People should pursue civil commitment of any particular individual as an SVP (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6601, subds. (a) – (d)), section 6601.3 provides: "Upon a showing of good cause, the Board of Prison Terms<sup>[4]</sup> may order that a person referred to the State Department of Mental Health pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 6601 remain in custody for no more than 45 days beyond the person's scheduled release date *for full evaluation pursuant to subdivisions* (c) to (i), inclusive, of Section 6601." (Italics added.)

As noted, the Board is specifically empowered under the SVPA's own terms (by section 6601.3) to delay the release from custody of the inmate to be evaluated for up to 45 days.<sup>5</sup> The objective of this 45-day

<sup>4.</sup> Now the Board of Parole Hearings. (See *Sharkey* Opinion, p. 11, fn. 4, citing *In re Hovanski* (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1517, 1521, fn. 2.)

<sup>5.</sup> Because the specific prevails over the general provision when interpreting conflicting statutes (*Pacific Lumber Co. v. State Water Resources Control Bd.* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 921, 942; *Sherwin-Williams Co. v. City of Los Angeles* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 893, 908), this grant of authority under the SVPA is valid notwithstanding Penal Code section 3000, subdivision (b)(1). Because this Court has said that pursuant to this ""mandatory 'kickout' provision" "[t]he Board ... has no discretion to grant or withhold parole to a prisoner who has served a determinate term"" (*Lucas* Opinion, pp. 15-16, citing *Terhune v. Superior Court* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 864, 873-874), the *Lucas* court erroneously took away the discretion specifically

hold, according to the text of section 6601.3, is to enable the named agencies to complete a full evaluation under section 6601, subdivisions (c) to (i), when such evaluation could not be completed before the scheduled release date. Thus, section 6601.3 helps to effectuate the legislative intent of identifying SVPs and confining them for treatment by allowing the Board to prevent the premature release of a potential SVP before the necessary evaluation can be completed. Consistent with the intent of the SVPA, the standard for "good cause" established in section 2600.1 of the Code of Regulations reflects the text and objective of section 6601.3. (Cf. Sharkey Opinion, p. 15; also Cal. Portland Cement Co. v. Cal. Unemp. Ins. Appeals Board, supra, 178 Cal.App.2d at pp. 272, 273.)

Finally and perhaps most persuasively, as the *Sharkey* court demonstrates, the Board's standardization of good cause in section 2600.1 of the Code of Regulations should be upheld as a quasi-legislative and interpretive regulation that "is reasonably necessary to effectuate the purpose of section 6601.3 and of the SVPA generally." Moreover, this interpretation is entitled to greater deference because it "is contained in a

granted to the Board in section 6601.3 and imposed a higher threshold showing for imposing the 45-day hold than that intended by the enactment of section 6601.3, i.e., when time is needed for full evaluation and there is some evidence that the inmate has the requisite prior convictions and is likely to engage in sexually violent predatory criminal behavior.

regulation formally adopted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act (Gov. Code, § 11340 et seq.)" and is "a statutory interpretation that the administrative agency has consistently maintained and is of long-standing, i.e., for over 14 years." (*Sharkey* Opinion, pp. 12-15.)

II

THE LIBERTY INTEREST OF INMATES IS
PROTECTED AS INTENDED UNDER THE SVPA
BECAUSE THE "GOOD CAUSE" STANDARD IN
CODE OF REGULATIONS SECTION 2600.1
ONLY ALLOWS A 45-DAY HOLD UNDER
SECTION 6601.3 TO BE IMPOSED AGAINST
POTENTIAL SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS

In the normal course of operations under the SVPA, an inmate identified by the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and fully evaluated by the Department of Mental Health would be referred to the prosecuting agency for review and filing of an SVP petition before the date set for the inmate's release on parole. In that event, the inmate would not be released on parole but confined pending trial and treatment of his condition.

Section 6601.3 permits the Board, for good cause shown, to continue the confinement of the inmate for up to 45 days to allow full evaluation of the inmate's condition. The action for which good cause must be shown in section 6601.3 is not the postponement of the filing of the civil commitment petition – as the trial courts and trial counsel for the inmates suggested by the remedy that was requested and granted, namely the

dismissal of the SVP petition –, but the Board's continued confinement of the inmates pending the full evaluation and filing of the petition. This 45-day confinement is the liberty interest at stake, not the filing of the petition or the ultimate civil commitment, either of which may not happen after evaluation.

The issue then in section 6601.3, properly defined, is what constitutes sufficient cause to continue to confine an inmate as a potential SVP when there has not been a full evaluation. What ""real circumstances, substantial reasons, objective conditions, … adequate excuses that will bear the test of reason, just grounds for action""6 would justify confining an inmate for 45 days past his release date, as if he were a diagnosed SVP, when a full evaluation identifying him sufficiently to warrant filing an SVP petition had not been completed? Drawing an analogy to Fourth Amendment law concerning temporary detention may be helpful in this analysis.

Given that an inmate may be confined under the SVPA after full evaluation and filing of the petition, the 45-day hold effectively treats the inmate, vis-à-vis his liberty interest, as if he had a diagnosed current SVP mental disease. Thus, if post-filing confinement under the SVPA were compared to being in custody after an accused is arrested and charged, the 45-day hold might be compared to a pre-arrest detention. This quasi pre-arrest

<sup>6.</sup> Lucas Opinion, p. 13, citing Cal. Portland Cement Co. v. Cal. Unemp. Ins. Appeals Board, supra, 178 Cal. App. 2d at pp. 272-273.

detention, limited by statute to no more than 45 days, is justified by the need to resolve ambiguities giving rise to reasonable cause for detention, in this case, the existence of SVP prior convictions and some evidence suggesting that the inmate has the SVP mental disease. (See, e.g., *People v. Fisher* (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 338, 344 [possibility of an innocent explanation does not prevent officer from entertaining reasonable suspicion of criminal conduct, particularly since principal function of police investigation is to resolve ambiguity and establish whether activity in question is legal or illegal]; *People v. Coulombe* (2000) 86 Cal.App.4th 52, 56 [temporary detention and patdown search proper when officer believes "criminal activity is afoot" and that defendant is involved].)

The purpose of the SVPA is to identify, confine, and treat potential SVPs until they no longer pose a threat to society, and the stated objective of section 6601.3 is to prevent the premature release of potential SVPs before full evaluations of their status can be completed. The good cause standard in section 2600.1 of the Code of Regulations fulfills that purpose and objective while minimizing the intrusion into the liberty interests of inmates by requiring some showing that the persons detained under section 6601.3 have the required prior convictions and might be diagnosed with the mental disease sought to be treated.

The reasoning of the Lucas court that "good cause for a hold

would exist in every case referred for a full evaluation, and the exception would swallow the rule" (Lucas Opinion, p. 18) assumes too much. If official duty is regularly performed (Evid. Code, § 664), only cases with exceptional circumstances would require imposition of the 45-day hold. Further, since the Board has discretion to impose the hold for good cause shown, the evaluation process must at least be sufficiently completed to make the required "good cause" showing so that the hold is only imposed against potential SVPs as contemplated by the statute. Moreover, the good faith of the government agents and the circumstances which might necessitate the 45day hold are far less relevant for the purposes of the SVPA or crucial to the liberty interests of the inmates than the existence of some evidence to show that the right individual is being detained – i.e., the inmate has the SVP prior convictions and some indicia suggesting mental disease. This is exactly what is sought to be assured by the regulation's good cause standard.

Thus, the regulation effectuates the purpose of section 6601.3 and of the SVPA both by preventing the premature release of potential SVPs and by ensuring that only potential SVPs still in need of full evaluation are detained under section 6601.3.

#### CONCLUSION

Because the purpose of the SVPA and the liberty interests of inmates are both best served by ensuring that only potential SVPs are subject

to the additional 45-day hold, "good cause" within the meaning of section 6601.3 should be interpreted under the standard set forth in section 2600.1 of the Code of Regulations. Furthermore, the fact that section 2600.1 of the Code of Regulations has been followed for over 14 years in applying section 6601.3 without corrective action by the Legislature shows that the Legislature agrees with that meaning of "good cause" under section 6601.3.

For all of the reasons stated herein, the *Sharkey* decision correctly interprets the meaning of "good cause" in section 6601.3 in light of the objective of section 6601.3 and the purpose and legislative intent of the SVP statutory scheme. The Los Angeles County District Attorney therefore respectfully urges this Court to deny review in the *Sharkey* case and allow lower courts to be guided by that decision.